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      In 1789 the monarchs and aristocracies of Europe were shocked by the Revolution in France, and in subsequent years the execution
         of the French royal family and the bloodbath of the Terror lost the revolutionaries what little support they had among the
         ordinary people of other countries. As France embarked on what historians would label the French Revolutionary Wars in 1792,
         initially to defend its ideology from interference by neighbouring states, a young officer in the French army took his first
         steps to power. By 1798 Napoleon Bonaparte had risen to the rank of general, established a reputation as an invincible commander
         and was about to attempt to fulfil a personal dream – to retrace the footsteps of Alexander the Great and seize territory
         to form a French empire in the East. The war was to take on a global dimension, in a drawn-out conflict that would gain its
         name from the man who rose from a minor aristocratic Corsican family to become emperor, not of the East, but of western Europe:
         the Napoleonic Wars were about to begin.
      

      
      This was the first worldwide war, and at its heart all the major powers of Europe were deeply involved in a kaleidoscope of
         constantly changing alliances and coalitions as the states surrounding France struggled to defend themselves or maintain a
         precarious neutrality. Further afield, the colonies and outposts of emerging European empires were captured or bartered like
         pawns in a giant game of chess, with little regard for the aspirations or welfare of the local populations. For a century,
         until World War I inherited the title, the Napoleonic conflict would be known as ‘The Great War’.
      

      
      It was a war won at sea. Although the Duke of Wellington led British and allied troops to a final victory over Napoleon at
         Waterloo, for many years French armies had reigned victorious on European soil, and only the natural moat of the English Channel, bristling with British Navy warships, precariously held the French at arm’s length from
         mainland Britain. From the very beginning the British Navy blocked Napoleon’s ambitions. At the Battle of the Nile, Nelson
         destroyed the French fleet, stranding Napoleon and his army in Egypt. His attempt to march overland to India was repulsed
         by Sir Sidney Smith’s spirited defence of Acre, after which Napoleon postponed his plans for oriental conquest and returned
         to France to seize power, first as dictator and then as emperor.
      

      
      While British naval intelligence officers gathered what information they could, wherever possible providing aid to the French
         Royalist opposition, British warships struggled to keep the remaining French fleets confined to port by a constant blockade.
         This also hampered the assembly of a French invasion fleet for an attack on Britain, plans for which were shelved after the
         fleet of warships that was to escort them was destroyed by Nelson at Trafalgar. This was the turning point. For the next ten
         years the war at sea was one of attrition. France was bled of its resources to support Napoleon’s armies, and the blockade
         of ports gradually stifled French trade and prosperity, while the seizure of French territory in combined army and navy operations,
         or sometimes by a determined assault by the crews from a couple of warships, diverted valuable commerce to Britain. Napoleon’s
         dreams of global domination dissolved while Britain whittled away the French empire and found itself with a growing number
         of colonies almost by accident. Even a brief and unnecessary war with America from 1812 to 1815, provoked by the war with
         France, did not distract the British Navy from its purpose, and by the time of Waterloo Britain controlled the world’s sea-lanes
         and possessed the foundations of an empire on which the sun literally never set. The conflict that resulted from Napoleon’s
         scramble to power out of the chaos of the French Revolution had developed into a war for naval supremacy and control of the
         world’s seaborne trading routes – a war for all the oceans.
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      WITH CANNON AND CUTLASS

      
      
         Who would enter for small craft, when the Leander, the finest frigate in the world … still has room for a hundred active seamen … lots of leave on shore, dancing and fiddling
            aboard, and four pounds of tobacco served out every month.
         

         From a recruiting poster for the Leander1
         

      

      
      The Speedy certainly was a small craft. Optimistically described by the Admiralty as a sloop*, the British ship was considered by Thomas Cochrane as ‘little more than a burlesque on a vessel of war … about the size
         of an average coasting brig, her burden being 158 tons … crowded rather than manned, with a crew of eighty-four men and six
         officers’.2 Just promoted to commander, Cochrane nevertheless professed to be ‘very proud of my little vessel’.3 This did not mean he was blind to the ship’s shortcomings, the main one being the armament, which ‘consisted of fourteen
         4-pounders! a species of gun little larger than a blunderbuss’.4 A broadside from these guns was seven iron balls weighing in total 28 pounds, and Cochrane found that he could fit them all
         in his coat pockets and still comfortably pace the quarterdeck.
      

      
      The ship was so cramped that Cochrane’s cabin had ‘not so much as room for a chair, the floor being entirely occupied by a
         small table surrounded with lockers, answering the double purpose of storechests and seats. The difficulty was to get seated,
         the ceiling being only five feet high, so that the object could only be accomplished by rolling on the locker, a movement sometimes attended with unpleasant
         failure.’5 The lack of space in the cabin was extremely uncomfortable for Cochrane, who was over six feet tall, and he found that the
         ‘only practicable mode of shaving consisted in removing the skylight and putting my head through to make a toilet-table of
         the quarter-deck above’.6

      
      Based in the Mediterranean, the Speedy was under the overall command of Admiral Lord Keith and in 1800 was being used as an escort for merchant convoys. This was
         essential but generally unrewarding work that maintained the flow of trade, particularly to and from the colonies, on which
         Britain’s prosperity depended. On 10 May the Speedy sailed from Cagliari on Sardinia’s southern coast to protect a convoy of fourteen merchantmen on their way to Leghorn (Livorno)
         on Italy’s north-west coast, but within hours Cochrane was facing a crisis. The Speedy’s log for that day read, ‘At 9 a.m. observed a strange sail take possession of a Danish brig under our escort.’7 Faced with the choice of abandoning the Danish ship or leaving the rest of the convoy in a rescue attempt that might not
         succeed, Cochrane did not hesitate, as the log entry continued, ‘At 11.30 a.m. rescued the brig, and captured the assailant.’8

      
      The captured ship, Cochrane’s first prize, was the French privateer Intrépide, and this was not the only threat because four days later the Speedy had to rescue two stragglers in the convoy which were seized by five armed boats that rowed out from the island of Monte
         Cristo. The voyage from Cagliari to Leghorn took eleven days, but after safely delivering the convoy, Cochrane was rewarded
         by being given a relatively free hand to harass enemy shipping, initially off the Italian coast and then off eastern Spain.
      

      
      For nearly a year the Speedy cruised along the Spanish coast, capturing enemy ships as prizes and occasionally having to avoid warships that were too
         large and heavily armed, but on 5 May 1801 Cochrane and his crew came across some Spanish gunboats off Barcelona and immediately
         gave chase. The gunboats ran for the safety of the harbour, and from the way they behaved they were obviously acting as decoys,
         but this did not deter Cochrane. At dawn the next day he again took the Speedy in towards Barcelona, ‘when the trap manifested itself in the form of a large ship’9 – the Spanish frigate Gamo. This was a much larger vessel than the Speedy, with a crew of 319 men and armed with 8- and 12-pounder cannons and 24-pounder carronades. The weight of shot in the Gamo’s broadside was 190 pounds, nearly seven times that of the Speedy. Cochrane also had the disadvantage that his crew was reduced in number to fifty-four because some men were taking captured ships back to the Speedy’s base at Port Mahón on Minorca.
      

      
      There was still time to escape from such an unequal contest, but Cochrane’s officers had complained about not attacking a
         similar frigate and so ‘orders were then given to pipe all hands, and prepare for action’.10 Putting on a bold front, the Speedy ‘made towards the frigate, which was now coming down under steering sails. At 9.30 a.m., she fired a gun and hoisted Spanish
         colours, which the Speedy acknowledged by hoisting American colours [America was a neutral country], our object being, as we were now exposed to her
         full broadside, to puzzle her, till we got on the other tack, when we ran up the English ensign, and immediately afterwards
         encountered her broadside without damage.’11

      
      The only chance for the Speedy was to move in as close as possible to the Gamo, whose guns had a much longer range. The Gamo managed to fire another broadside, which again failed to damage the fast-approaching Speedy. Cochrane gave orders ‘not to fire a gun till we were close to her; when running under her lee, we locked our yards amongst
         her rigging, and in this position returned our broadside, such as it was’.12 The Spanish frigate towered above the Speedy, and, Cochrane recorded, ‘to have fired our popgun 4-pounders at a distance would have been to throw away the ammunition,
         but the guns being doubly, and as I afterwards learned, trebly, shotted*, and being elevated, they told admirably upon her main deck; the first discharge … killing the Spanish captain and the boatswain.’13 The Gamo was now at a disadvantage, as Cochrane had calculated: ‘My reason for locking our small craft in the enemy’s rigging was
         the one upon which I mainly relied for victory, viz. that from the height of the frigate out of the water, the whole of her
         shot must necessarily go over our heads, whilst our guns, being elevated, would blow up her main-deck.’14

      
      Although the Speedy had counteracted the superiority the Gamo had in fire-power, the crew was still outnumbered six to one by the Spanish, so to Cochrane the next move was obvious:
      

      
      The Spaniards speedily found out the disadvantage under which they were fighting, and gave the order to board the Speedy, but as this order was as distinctly heard by us as by them, we avoided it at the moment of execution by sheering off to prevent the movement, giving them a volley of musketry and a broadside before they could recover themselves.
         Twice was this manoeuvre repeated, and twice thus averted. The Spaniards finding that they were only punishing themselves,
         gave up further attempts to board, and stood to their guns, which were cutting up our rigging from stem to stern, but doing
         little farther damage, for after the lapse of an hour the loss to the Speedy was only two men killed and four wounded. This kind of combat, however, could not last. Our rigging being cut up and the
         Speedy’s sails riddled with shot, I told the men that they must either take the frigate or be themselves taken, in which case the
         Spaniards would give no quarter – whilst a few minutes energetically employed on their part would decide the matter in their
         own favour.15

      
      The situation was desperate, and Cochrane did everything to improve their chances:

      
      Calculating on the superstitious wonder which forms an element in the Spanish character, a portion of our crew were ordered
         to black their faces, and what with this and the excitement of combat, more ferocious looking objects could scarcely be imagined.
         The fellows thus disguised were directed to board by the head [at the bow], and the effect produced was precisely that calculated
         on. The greater portion of the Spaniard’s crew was prepared to repel boarders in that direction, but stood for a few moments
         as it were transfixed to the deck by the apparition of so many diabolical looking figures emerging from the white smoke of
         the bow guns.16

      
      While the Spanish were occupied by this diversion, Cochrane related, ‘our other men, who boarded by the waist [amidships],
         rushed on them from behind, before they could recover from their surprise’.17 He gambled everything on this attack, and his entire crew boarded the Spanish vessel except for ‘the doctor, Mr. Guthrie,
         who … volunteered to take the helm. Leaving him therefore for the time being both commander and crew of the Speedy … in a few seconds every man was on the enemy’s deck – a feat rendered the more easy as the doctor placed the Speedy close alongside with admirable skill.’18 Initially the British had the upper hand because ‘for a moment the Spaniards seemed taken by surprise, as though unwilling
         to believe that so small a crew would have the audacity to board them, but soon recovering themselves, they made a rush to
         the waist of the frigate, where the fight was for some minutes gallantly carried on’.19 At this point Cochrane shouted down to the doctor, the sole person aboard the Speedy, to send up another fifty men. He also sent a man to haul down the Spanish colours, and ‘the Spanish crew, without pausing
         to consider by whose orders the colours had been struck*, and naturally believing it the act of their own officers, gave in, and we were in possession of the Gamo frigate, of thirty-two heavy guns and 319 men, who an hour and a half before had looked upon us as a certain if not an easy
         prey’.20

      
      Contrary to what might have been expected with the British so heavily outnumbered, the disparity between the sizes of the
         two crews was matched by a similar disparity in casualty figures, as Cochrane reported: ‘Our loss in boarding was Lieutenant
         Parker, severely wounded in several places, one seaman killed and three wounded, which with those previously killed and wounded
         gave a total of three seamen killed and one officer and seventeen men wounded. The Gamo’s loss was Captain de Torres, the boatswain, and thirteen seamen killed, together with forty-one wounded, her casualties
         thus exceeding the whole number of officers and crew on board the Speedy.’21

      
      When the Spanish had time for reflection, they were seemingly embarrassed to have been captured by so small a vessel, and
         Cochrane noted that ‘some time after the surrender of the Gamo, and when we were in quiet possession, the officer who had succeeded the deceased captain … applied to me for a certificate
         that he had done his duty during the action’.22 Cochrane duly gave him a certificate with the equivocal wording that he had ‘conducted himself like a true Spaniard’23, which pleased the officer, while to his amusement Cochrane ‘had afterwards the satisfaction of learning that it procured
         him further promotion in the Spanish service!’24

      
      Having won the battle, the British needed to escort the captured ship back to base before other Spanish warships intervened,
         and ‘it became a puzzle what to do with 263 unhurt prisoners now we had taken them, the Speedy having only forty-two [fit] men left. Promptness was however necessary, so driving the prisoners into the hold, with guns
         pointing down the hatchway, and leaving thirty of our men on board the prize … we shaped our course to Port Mahon.’25 The two ships reached Minorca safely, and in this they were lucky, with ‘the Barcelona gun-boats, though spectators of the
         action, not venturing to rescue the frigate’.26 As Cochrane admitted, ‘had they made the attempt, we should have had some difficulty in evading them and securing the prize, the prisoners manifesting every disposition to rescue themselves,
         and only being deterred by their own main deck guns loaded with canister, and pointing down the hatchways’.27

      
      At the time the Gamo was captured in 1801, Cochrane was just twenty-five and the Speedy was his first independent command, but he would go on to terrorise the French by capturing over fifty vessels in the Mediterranean
         and harassing French troops in raids on the coasts of France and French-occupied Spain. He built a reputation as a captain
         who would not risk the safety of his crew unnecessarily, but was likely to make them rich with prize money. Yet Cochrane was
         only exceptional in the consistency of his success and his extreme independence of spirit. While frequently forced to endure
         the tedium of protecting merchant convoys or patrolling enemy ports, captains of small fast warships were also given a free
         hand to cruise particular areas, doing whatever damage they could to enemy forces and trade. The British Navy came to rely
         on these individual commanders who, with single ships or small squadrons rather than huge battle fleets, relentlessly reduced
         French naval power to a handful of warships confined to port by a continuous blockade.
      

      
      The capture of the Gamo by the Speedy was only unusual because of the great difference in size and power between the two vessels – most battles were more evenly
         matched – but this incident is typical of the professionalism, ingenuity, daring and raw courage displayed by the seamen of
         the British Navy during the Napoleonic Wars. While Napoleon* went from one victory to another on land, all his plans for taking control of the seas were dogged by failure. The commerce
         of France was stifled, the French Empire shrank and the economy almost collapsed, while Britain expanded its trade, wealth
         and empire. Although Wellington dealt the final blow at Waterloo, ultimately the war against Napoleon was won by the officers
         and men of the British Navy.
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      GATEWAY TO INDIA

      
      
         Had I been master of the sea, I should have been master of the East.
         

         Napoleon, speaking about his expedition to the eastern Mediterranean1
         

      

      
      With hindsight, Tuesday 24 April 1798 was one of those pivotal days when history changes its course, but at the time it seemed
         no different from any of the days that came before or after. France had undergone a revolution and was now at war with Britain.
         The Directory, the present government of France, was engaged in a struggle with French Royalists who were trying to restore
         the Bourbon dynasty, which had ended with the execution of Louis XVI five years earlier. Having just arrested three leaders
         of the Parisian network of Royalists, the Directory’s grip on power was more secure than it had been for some time and, on
         the surface at least, France seemed relatively stable. The rising star of the French administration, General Napoleon Bonaparte,
         was in Paris awaiting the Directory’s decision on whether his planned expedition to invade Egypt would go ahead, or whether
         he would instead be sent on a diplomatic mission to Austria; Rear-Admiral Horatio Nelson, who was soon to become one of Napoleon’s
         most effective adversaries, was at Lisbon on his way to join the British fleet in the Mediterranean; and Captain Sir William
         Sidney Smith, also of the British Navy, was a prisoner in Paris in a high-security prison called the Temple. This was a medieval
         tower, with a turret on each corner, that originally formed the heart of the fortified residence of the crusading Knights
         Templars in Paris. The forbidding stone structure was now mainly used for political prisoners: Louis XVI was held there before his execution, and Smith occupied the same apartments.
      

      
      Smith had been in the Temple for much of the past two years, having been captured during a naval action at the mouth of the
         River Seine. The second son of a captain in the guards and gentleman-usher to Queen Charlotte, Smith had been born in Park
         Lane, London. He had joined the navy in 1777, at the age of thirteen, since when he had been in several notable actions. The
         French suspected that he was a spy and so refused to treat him as a prisoner-of-war. Although not able to prove it, they were
         right about his involvement in espionage, and from his prison cell in the French capital Smith acted as a spymaster, channelling
         funds from Britain to British agents and French Royalists in the Paris area. A fluent speaker of French, he was also a master
         of propaganda, and on the wooden panelling of his cell he had inscribed part of Jean-Jacques Rousseau’s Ode à la Fortune. This inscription began: ‘Fortune’s wheel makes strange revolutions, it must be confessed; but for the term revolution to
         be applicable, the turn of the wheel should be complete. You are today as high as you can be. Very well. I envy not your good
         fortune, for mine is better still. I am as low in the career of ambition as a man can well descend; so that, let this capricious
         dame, fortune, turn her wheel ever so little – I must necessarily mount, for the same reason that you must descend.’2

      
      The inscription was aimed at Napoleon and continued: ‘I make not this remark to cause you any uneasiness, but rather to bring
         you that consolation which I shall feel when you are arrived at the same point where I now am – yes! at the same point where
         I now am. You will inhabit this same prison – why not [you] as well as I? I no more thought of such a thing, than you do at
         present, before I was actually shut up in it.’3 Smith ensured that his message found its way into the French newspapers, ending with the proclamation: ‘In short, I need
         not prove to you that you will come to this place, because you must come here to be able to read these lines. I presume also
         you will inhabit this apartment, because it is the best, and because the keeper of it is a civil man and will do for you the
         best he can, as he does for me.’4 It came to be known as Smith’s ‘prophecy’, and although Napoleon never saw the original inscription, the newspaper reports
         undoubtedly played on the superstitious streak in his character – he later ordered the Temple to be demolished, probably to
         prevent the prophecy from coming true.
      

      
      On 24 April 1798 two officers arrived at the prison with an order to transfer Captain Smith and his fellow prisoner, Midshipman
         John Wesley Wright, to another prison at Fontainebleau. This was unusual, as those held in the Temple were either released, executed or
         died there, and the head gaoler, Citizen Antoine Boniface, scrutinised the order carefully. There appeared to be nothing amiss,
         and so Boniface had his clerk copy the order into the register while the more senior of the waiting officers signed a receipt
         for the prisoners. Sir Sidney later recalled that the officer who came to collect him gave an assurance ‘in the most serious
         manner, that the government were very far from intending to aggravate my misfortunes, and that I should be very comfortable
         at the place whither he was ordered to conduct me’.5 When all the formalities had been completed, Boniface ordered six men from the guard to accompany Smith, which was agreed,
         but then the officer addressed Smith again, saying, ‘Commodore, you are an officer, I am an officer also; your parole will
         be enough. Give me that, and I have no need of an escort’6, to which Smith replied, ‘if that is sufficient, I swear on the faith of an officer to accompany you wherever you choose
         to conduct me.’7

      
      Once outside the prison, the small party of officers and their prisoners boarded a four-wheeled horse-drawn cab, apparently
         ‘taken from the nearest stand’8, but as Smith climbed inside he saw faces he recognised – faces of French Royalist agents – and his suspicions were confirmed
         that a rescue attempt was in progress. Once away from the prison, fearing immediate pursuit, they urged the cab driver to
         make haste, but their progress was immediately halted:
      

      
      A trivial circumstance nearly defeated the bold enterprise. The driver had not gone a hundred yards, when he ran against a
         post, and not only damaged his wheel, but injured a foot-passenger [a child in the street]. An angry crowd collected; Sidney
         and his companions jumped out, took the valise, and were hurrying away, when the driver called them back, demanding his fare
         … [and one of the party] committed a rash act, which might well have compromised everything by arousing the suspicion of the
         by-standers; he threw the driver a double louis [an illegal Royalist gold coin], and hastily rejoined his companions.9

      
      Hurrying away before the mistake was noticed, the fugitives set out on foot for a nearby Royalist safe house, where they spent
         the night. Smith left the next day in a carriage heading north-west, but he had no passport or papers and the most dangerous
         part of the journey was the checkpoint on the road leading out of Paris. Just as they approached this obstacle, the carriage collided with a wall and was damaged, but turning this accident to his advantage, Smith slipped through on foot while
         some of the checkpoint guards were occupied by the diversion. After being repaired, the carriage picked him up and continued
         towards the Normandy coast.
      

      
      At the city of Rouen, Smith had to wait several days for a false passport, and here Midshipman Wright caught up with him.
         While they were at Rouen, their escape from Paris was finally noticed. On 2 May the Temple’s doctor, who had come to know
         Smith well, was dining with a senior prison official and asked how Smith liked his new quarters. As he had not heard of the
         move, the official’s suspicions were aroused, and when he checked with Fontainebleau prison the next day he realised Smith
         had escaped and raised the alarm. A reward was offered for the capture of Smith, who was described as ‘middle-sized, very
         thin, brown hair, blue eyes, marked with the small pox, long nose, speaking French well, about 30 years of age’10, but it was far too late. With false passports and dressed as fishermen, Smith and his companions rowed out from Le Havre
         in a small boat and were picked up by a British ship. As reported in The Times, ‘They were taken on board the Argo frigate, which joyfully received these welcome strangers, who on Saturday morning [5 May] were landed at Portsmouth, amidst
         the acclamations and congratulations of all ranks of people, who lined the streets as they passed along. The same civilities
         were shewn Sir SYDNEY SMITH at every place where he was recognised … Sir SYDNEY is in a tolerable good state of health, though he looks very thin.’11 In London Smith was received by the King and the Duke of Clarence and dined with Lord Spencer at the Admiralty.
      

      
      The first time that Smith’s path had crossed that of Napoleon was almost five years earlier at the siege of Toulon, in the
         summer of 1793. Toulon was the main French naval base in the Mediterranean, but that summer the largely Royalist population
         threw out the Revolutionary administration. As an army approached to take back control, the people of Toulon opened the port
         to the British and the Spanish, who were allies of Britain at that time. The resulting siege was a stalemate for some weeks
         while the British tried desperately to bring in reinforcements to counter the growing army of Revolutionary troops surrounding
         the town. At this point a twenty-four-year-old major of the French artillery, Napoleon Bonaparte, came to prominence by the
         skilful use of his guns. He persuaded his commanding officer to capture a key fort on high ground from where his artillery
         could threaten the British ships in the harbour, giving them the stark choice of retreat or destruction. The British fleet
         pulled out, leaving many of the local population to be massacred by the vengeful Revolutionaries. Smith volunteered to organise
         the burning of those ships that could not be sailed out of the harbour – fifty-eight warships, including thirty-two large
         battleships.
      

      
      There was little time to lose. The Revolutionary army was pressing at the gates of the town, and many of the inhabitants had
         already thrown away their Royalist colours and were wearing the red, white and blue cockade of the Revolutionaries. In the
         end, the British sailed nineteen French ships out of the harbour, and Smith managed to destroy ten ships of the line* and four others, but this left eighteen ships of the line and seven others to be recaptured by the French. Even so, the loss
         of thirty-three ships was a greater blow to the French Navy than Nelson later inflicted at the battles of the Nile and Trafalgar,
         but in the subsequent search for scapegoats after the abandonment of Toulon, Smith was criticised for not destroying more
         ships, although in reality his achievement was remarkable.
      

      
      Admiral Lord Hood, the commanding officer of the British fleet at Toulon, was himself well pleased with Smith’s work and rewarded
         him with the honour of taking the dispatches back to London. Napoleon gave him the nickname ‘Capitaine de Brûlot’12 (fireship captain), and one far-reaching result of Smith’s actions was that the French regarded him as an arsonist rather
         than a naval officer acting on orders, a charge frequently quoted when they refused him prisoner-of-war status during his
         captivity in the Temple. At the time of the Toulon siege Smith already had a reputation for gallantry, and a few years earlier,
         when working for the Swedish Navy, he had helped their trapped fleet escape from the Russians. For this, King Gustavus III
         had requested King George III to invest him with the Swedish honour of Knight Grand Cross of the Order of the Sword. From
         then on Sir Sidney was referred to by his enemies in Britain as ‘the Swedish knight’.
      

      
      By contrast, Napoleon earned great praise at Toulon and was promoted to brigadier-general, but he had yet to make his mark.
         His chance came in Paris two years later when the French government, then known as the Convention, was threatened by an armed
         mob of Royalists, anarchists and others opposed to the Revolution. Napoleon dispersed the crowd with grapeshot fired from his artillery and earned the gratitude of General Paul Barras, the commander-in-chief. Barras hailed
         him as saviour of the French Republic, and suddenly Napoleon’s name was known throughout France and his face recognised by
         Parisians. Barras had made him an overnight celebrity and basked in the reflected glory.
      

      
      Within weeks Napoleon was promoted to full general, and a few months later, when the Convention was replaced by the Directory,
         he was given command of an army with orders to conquer northern Italy. Napoleon was still a protégé of Barras, who passed
         on to him Josephine Beauharnais. Her aristocrat husband had been guillotined during the Revolution and she was now the official
         mistress of Barras, who shared her with General Lazare Hoche. Napoleon soon also became her lover, in a bizarre and complicated
         relationship since she did not immediately give up the other two men, but Napoleon fell madly in love with her, and in March
         1796 they were married – two days before Napoleon left Paris to invade Italy.
      

      
      After winning twelve major battles in thirteen months, Napoleon not only achieved the objective of conquering northern Italy,
         but also occupied the Papal States. His charismatic and forceful character allowed him to impose a rigid discipline on his
         troops without their becoming rebellious. He marched them from place to place at a speed that amazed his enemies, who were
         equally outclassed by his tactics – he read the landscape and used it to his advantage during battles. This was not the dumpy,
         middle-aged Napoleon, with thinning hair and rather sullen expression, of portraits painted towards the end of his life, but
         a dashing, energetic young soldier.
      

      
      To the Directory Napoleon was almost a miracle worker, who could be deployed against the enemies surrounding France, but they
         were aware of the dangers of someone who had risen from nowhere to a position of authority in an astonishingly short time.
         However, he was just one player in a constantly changing power struggle that had been raging ever since the start of the Revolution
         in the summer of 1789, and at this point there was little indication of his future destiny. He may have been an inspired general
         and one of France’s greatest military assets, but the Directory did not trust his ambition. To keep him occupied, preferably
         away from Paris, and to hamper his flair for intrigue, the Directory put him in charge of the preparations for an invasion
         of Britain. His private secretary, Louis Antoine Fauvelet de Bourrienne, recalled Napoleon’s irritation at being thwarted:
         I do not wish to stay here [in France]; there is nothing to do. They are unwilling to listen to anything. I foresee that if
         I remain here, I am ruined in a short time. Everything here wears out; already I no longer have any glory. This little Europe
         does not supply enough. I must go to the East, all great glory comes from there. Nevertheless, I wish first to make a tour
         along the coasts, to assure myself about what can be undertaken … If the success of a raid into England appears doubtful to
         me, as I fear it will, the army of England will become the army of the East, and I will go to Egypt.13

      
      This ‘tour along the coast’ took place in February 1798. It was a rapid two-week inspection of the Channel ports and of the
         preparations for an invasion of Britain, just a few weeks before Sir Sidney Smith escaped from Paris, and it resulted in a
         long letter from Napoleon to the Directory setting out in detail why an invasion attempt was premature. At a stormy meeting
         with the Directory in the last week of February, Napoleon was finally pushed to an outright refusal to continue with the invasion
         plans, and out of the confusion of the following days his suggestion of an alternative expedition to Egypt was accepted.
      

      
      The prospect of acquiring Egypt as a colony was attractive not only for the fabled riches that the country possessed – fabled
         because there was relatively little accurate information about Egypt in western Europe – but also because it was a gateway
         to the overland route to the East. The Turkish Ottoman Empire that nominally controlled Egypt was fragile and starting to
         disintegrate. Its grip on the countries of the eastern Mediterranean was weakening and, in theory, a French army based in
         Egypt could push eastwards to India. Not yet the jewel in Britain’s imperial crown, India was not even a British colony, but
         outposts there were vital for Britain’s trade and prosperity. Any serious threat to trade with India would be a potential
         defeat for Britain, and at the very least might force the country to accept peace terms with France.
      

      
      Added to these powerful incentives was the thought that an expedition to Egypt would keep Napoleon far from Paris and away
         from any conspiracies for quite some time, so the Directory did not take long to decide to sanction the expedition. For his
         part, Napoleon was aware that taking an invading army to Egypt ran counter to his immediate ambitions to seize power in France,
         but he had a grand vision of what might be achieved in the East. Egypt could provide a gateway to Africa as well as Asia,
         while a canal from the Mediterranean to the Red Sea at Suez would give a fast sea route to India and beyond. Napoleon believed
         it was his destiny to carve out an eastern empire to rival that of Alexander the Great, and he made his plans accordingly. ‘A short time
         before leaving,’ Bourrienne noted, ‘I asked Bonaparte how long he intended staying in Egypt. “A few months, or six years;
         everything depends on circumstances. I will colonise that country; I will bring them artists, craftsmen of every description;
         women, actors, etc. We are only 29 years old, and we will then be 35. That is not old age. Those six years will enable me,
         if all goes well, to go to India.”’14

      
      The success of the expedition depended on misleading the British, and so preparations for the invasion of Britain continued
         in order to keep the British Navy tied up far from the Mediterranean. Meanwhile, the groundwork for the expedition to Egypt
         took place in the utmost secrecy. This was an incredible feat of military administration: Napoleon oversaw the project from
         Paris, delegating the work to subordinate generals in ports in southern France, Corsica and western Italy. In the end, an
         army of some thirty-eight thousand infantry and cavalry troops was assembled to be carried by a fleet of four hundred transport
         vessels, escorted by thirteen warships and seven frigates. Also embarked were sixty field guns and forty siege guns, but only
         twelve hundred horses for the three thousand cavalrymen because Napoleon expected to use camels. The ships were gradually
         gathered in the ports of Toulon and Marseilles in southern France, Genoa and Civitavecchia in Italy and Ajaccio in Corsica
         – and to the British warships patrolling off these ports, it was obvious that a huge campaign was in preparation.
      

      
      The warships and frigates that were to escort the expedition could not possibly protect such a large convoy from a British
         attack: their best hope lay in deceiving the British about their destination. Napoleon was remarkably successful in this,
         and although British agents in France struggled to find out, they could not obtain any reliable information. Knowing that
         his movements were closely watched, Napoleon left it to the last moment before travelling to Toulon, but a week later Rear-Admiral
         Nelson, patrolling off that port, composed a dispatch to Admiral Earl St Vincent to report that ‘Buonaparte arrived at Toulon
         last Friday, and has examined the troops which are daily embarking in the numerous Transports … it is not generally believed
         that Buonaparte is to embark, but … Reports say they are to sail in a few days, and others that they will not sail for a fortnight.’15 A day later he was again writing to St Vincent, admitting, ‘I have, in fact, no farther particulars to tell you … They order
         their matters so well in France, that all is secret.’16 At this time Nelson was commanding a small force of three warships (the Vanguard, Alexander and Orion), each carrying seventy-four guns, as well as three frigates, which were more lightly armed vessels, having about half the
         number of guns of a large warship, but were faster, more manoeuvrable and ideal for scouting purposes. This was a stronger
         squadron* than would normally be sent on a reconnaissance mission, and although it might hamper the sailing of the French fleet from
         Toulon, it could not stop it. For this reason Nelson was sending frequent reports to St Vincent, who was commanding a much
         larger fleet off the Spanish port of Cadiz, from which Nelson’s ships had been detached.
      

      
      In Toulon itself the French fleet had completed all its preparations, and according to Bourrienne, ‘Bonaparte knew by the
         movements of the English that there was not a moment to lose; but adverse winds kept us for ten days.’17 On the same day that Nelson was writing to St Vincent about the lack of information, the wind changed sufficiently for Napoleon’s
         ships to start leaving Toulon. With a massive number of transports and warships to organise, it took over eight hours to assemble
         the fleet outside the harbour, and it was not until the next day, 20 May 1798, that they were ready to set sail. The very
         fact that Napoleon had planned this expedition, assembled its components and sailed in time to reach Egypt before the annual
         Nile flood made the Nile Valley impassable, was evidence not just of his ability as a commander, but of the strength of his
         power within France.
      

      
      What was a good sailing wind for the French fleet at Toulon was actually the edge of a storm further out to sea – a storm
         that blew Nelson’s ships south for two days before starting to moderate. Because the masts and rigging of Nelson’s flagship,
         the Vanguard, were badly damaged, the ship was taken in tow by the Alexander. The warships, which had lost touch with the frigates, now looked for a sheltered spot to carry out repairs. They were off
         the Gulf of Oristano, on the west coast of Sardinia, roughly 250 miles south of Toulon, but the wind was keeping them off
         the coast, and as nobody had charts or personal knowledge of the area, they continued some 30 miles south to the island of
         San Pietro.
      

      
      Parts of the world were still completely uncharted, and many places did not have adequate maps. Each seafaring nation had
         conducted surveys of some areas, but overall the coverage of sea charts was piecemeal and of variable quality. British naval captains were required
         to provide their own charts, but even if they could afford to buy everything available, it was often not practical to store
         so many charts on board ship, so they tended to be selective. When they found themselves in places not covered by their charts,
         they relied on anyone on board who had sailed in those waters before, so the situation that Nelson and his captains found
         themselves in was not unusual. Writing to his father-in-law afterwards, Captain Edward Berry of the Vanguard summed up the dangers of sailing into uncharted waters:
      

      
      The storm did not abate till Tuesday afternoon [22 May], which enabled the Alexander to take us in tow. Our situation on Tuesday night was the most alarming I ever experienced: we stood in for the Island of
         Sardinia, and approached the S.W. side of the Island, intending to go into Oristan Bay, which we were not acquainted with,
         but it was absolutely necessary to go somewhere. Finding we could not fetch Oristan, the Admiral [Nelson] determined to try
         for St. Pierre’s [San Pietro], which we could have fetched had the breeze continued, but unfortunately it fell light airs,
         and at times almost calm … All this time there was a heavy swell driving in towards the shore, so that at midnight we were
         completely embayed. You may easily figure to yourself our situation, and the feelings of those who knew the danger, when I tell you I could easily distinguish the surf breaking on the rocky shore; still there was hope anchorage might be
         found, though we knew of none.18

      
      Berry described how they avoided shipwreck:

      
      We therefore bent our cables [ready to anchor in an emergency] and prepared for the worst, anxiously wishing for daybreak,
         which at length arrived, and we found ourselves about five miles from the shore, the western swell still continuing to drive
         us in … Indeed, the Vanguard was a perfect wreck, but the Alexander still had us in tow. Fortunately, at about six o’clock on Wednesday, the 23rd of May, a breeze sprang up, the Alexander’s sails filled, we weathered the rocks to windward of the Island of St. Pierre’s, and before 12 we anchored in six fathoms*, and fine smooth water – a luxury to us scarcely to be equalled.19

      
      Despite the exhaustion of the crews after the storm, they were set to work to repair the three warships anchored off San Pietro,
         and remarkably the ships were ready to sail within four days, only to be delayed by variable winds. Before the repairs were
         complete, they were very vulnerable to capture, and Nelson commented that ‘the meanest Frigate out of France would have been
         a very unwelcome guest’.20 It was not until 3 June that they regained their station off Toulon, by which time they learned from passing ships that the
         French fleet had sailed, but nobody knew where. Two days later, while Nelson was still hoping to make contact with his missing
         frigates, Commander Thomas Masterman Hardy arrived in the British brig* Mutine with the welcome news that eleven warships were on their way to reinforce Nelson’s fleet – he would now have a force capable
         of tackling the enemy fleet, but as yet had no knowledge of the destination of the French.
      

      
      While Nelson’s ships were blown southwards by the storm, Napoleon’s fleet headed eastwards in order to round the northern
         tip of Corsica. After two days’ sailing they met up with the French fleet from Genoa, and on 28 May this combined fleet reached
         the rendezvous point, west of Civitavecchia, to find the ships from Ajaccio already there. This huge convoy continued southwards,
         while the ships from Civitavecchia struggled to make contact, but they were not fast enough to keep up and sailed on a parallel
         course. For the rest of the journey to Malta, which was the first objective, the main French fleet had no idea where the ships
         from Civitavecchia were, but in fact they had the advantage of better winds and overtook the main convoy, arriving off Malta
         three days before the rest arrived on 9 June.
      

      
      When the first French ships reached Malta, Nelson’s fleet was still off Toulon, awaiting the last of the ships that were being
         sent as reinforcements and still ignorant about the route taken by the French. Impatient to start the search, Nelson left
         behind the Leander to meet the remaining ships that were expected. He himself took the rest of his fleet south-eastwards towards Naples on 7
         June, deducing that the various components of the French fleet were likely to rendezvous off the west coast of Italy. Three
         days later the Leander and the reinforcements caught up with Nelson, making his fleet complete except for his missing frigates: it was the same
         day that Napoleon began an assault on Malta.
      

      
      For the French, the passage of nearly three weeks from Toulon to Malta had been relatively uneventful. At sea Napoleon ‘passed the greatest part of his time in his cabin, lying on a bed,
         provided with four little castors, which alleviated the seasickness from which he almost constantly suffered’21 – being liable to seasickness was one of the few things Napoleon and Nelson had in common. Many of the soldiers were seasick
         too, and conditions aboard the transports became more wretched day by day. Many were glad to reach Malta, a strictly neutral
         country ruled by the Knights of Malta, an organisation originating in the medieval crusades that had been in decline for some
         time and had come to rely heavily on recruitment from France. There was no legitimate reason for Napoleon to attack the island,
         but he needed the wealth accumulated by the Knights to help finance his expedition, and Malta would make a useful addition
         to Corsica and Corfu, two other islands invaded by the French, to increase their domination of the Mediterranean.
      

      
      During the winter, in order to assess the likely level of resistance, Napoleon had sent a treasury official, Émile Poussielgue,
         on a spying mission to Malta. As well as gathering military intelligence, Poussielgue managed to bribe two key members of
         the Knights and returned to Napoleon with a completely favourable report: Malta could be taken with ease. According to Bourrienne,
         Napoleon was irritated that he had to put up even a token attack:
      

      
      There was some misunderstanding, and consequently some cannon shots were exchanged … For those in the know, that was only
         for form’s sake, and these hostile demonstrations were not followed up. We wished to preserve the honour of the knights, and
         that was all … The impregnable fortress of Malta is so sheltered from a raid that General Caffarelli, after examining the
         fortifications with the greatest care, said to the General-in-Chief, in my presence, ‘Well, General, we are very lucky there
         was someone in the town to open the gates for us.’22

      
      On 13 June Napoleon issued a notification that Malta had surrendered and was under French control. He then organised systematic
         looting, carrying cartloads of treasure to his ships. His official report to the Directory would say that just over a million
         francs in gold and silver were taken from Malta, but the real figure was around seven million – the ‘missing’ five to six
         million was pocketed by Napoleon and his generals. Always conscious that a British fleet was hard on his heels, and anxious
         to prevent his invasion fleet being blockaded in harbour or caught at sea, Napoleon was impatient to leave. Once the treasure had been loaded and a garrison of nearly four thousand French troops established
         in control, his fleet set sail again on 19 June, hoping to be in Egypt in under two weeks.
      

      
      The same day that Napoleon declared Malta was taken, Nelson received his first piece of useful information from a passing
         ship: the French fleet had been seen off Sicily. With a chance to send letters home two days later, Nelson wrote to Earl Spencer,
         First Lord of the Admiralty: ‘The last account I had of the French Fleet, was from a Tunisian Cruizer, who saw them on the
         4th, off Trapani, in Sicily, steering to the eastward. If they pass Sicily, I shall believe they are going on their scheme
         of possessing Alexandria, and getting troops to India – a plan concerted with Tippoo Saib [the anti-British Sultan of Mysore],
         by no means so difficult as might at first view be imagined; but be they bound to the Antipodes, your Lordship may rely that
         I will not lose a moment in bringing them to Action.’23 Clutching at this single straw of information, Nelson decided the likely destination of the French was Egypt: after so many
         setbacks, the chase was finally beginning.
      

      
      Later Nelson was to write of this time that ‘I had the happiness to command a Band of Brothers’24, referring to the line ‘We few, we happy few, we band of brothers’25 in the king’s famous speech before the battle in Shakespeare’s Henry V. It was as they sailed in pursuit of the French that Nelson began to forge his captains into this band by inviting them to
         the Vanguard in small groups, often for dinner, in order to get to know them and discuss tactics. At a time when mobile phones have become
         essential possessions, it is difficult to appreciate the problems of communication at sea, even within a tightly packed fleet.
         Hailing could be used from ship to ship, but they had to be very close together, and even then the noise of the weather and
         the working of the ship could make shouted instructions incomprehensible. Generally, signal flags were used to pass messages
         from ship to ship, but these took time to hoist and be read, and the messages were limited in scope and open to misinterpretation,
         even when every flag was clearly visible. The only sure way of transmitting anything other than the most straightforward messages
         from one ship to another was to send someone with it in a boat, but frequently weather conditions intervened. There was simply
         no means of rapid and reliable communication, and so central control of a fleet from a flagship was often difficult – it was
         this obstacle that Nelson sought to overcome. By meeting with his captains and allowing them to become acquainted, he provided
         the conditions for them to understand and have confidence in one another. It was his genius for leadership, later known as the ‘Nelson Touch’26, that enabled him to rely on the simplest of strategies, instead of complicated battle plans and detailed instructions, confident
         that his subordinates had the ability to carry out his wishes, act independently, improvise where necessary and support one
         another as a team.
      

      
      On the morning of 22 June Nelson’s fleet had just passed the southern tip of Sicily when four ships were spotted to the south-east,
         and the Leander was sent to investigate. They were now moving into what were almost unknown waters, because the British Navy was used to
         operating in the western Mediterranean and seldom ventured east of Sicily. Between them, the British ships had very few charts
         of the area into which they were sailing. Lack of reliable charts was a minor inconvenience compared with the problem that
         Nelson was wrestling with – was he leading his ships in the right direction? In order to obtain their opinions, he summoned
         on board the Vanguard Sir James Saumarez of the Orion, Thomas Troubridge of the Culloden, Henry Darby of the Bellerophon and Alexander Ball of the Alexander. These captains discussed the information that had been collected and agreed that it was best to assume the French were heading
         for Egypt. Referring to this informal discussion, Nelson later wrote: ‘I therefore determined, with the opinion of those Captains
         in whom I place great confidence, to go to Alexandria; and if that place, or any other part of Egypt is their destination,
         I hope to arrive [in] time enough to frustrate their plans. The only objection I can fancy to be started is, “you should not
         have gone such a long voyage without more certain information of the Enemy’s destination”: my answer is ready – who was I
         to get it from?’27

      
      Just before the captains arrived on board the flagship, the Leander signalled that the four ships that had been spotted were frigates. Nelson recalled the Leander and let them go, not wanting to lose time chasing and capturing enemy frigates, even though he desperately needed such ships
         for reconnaissance. It was a mistake, as the frigates were outlying scout ships of the French fleet. While Nelson consulted
         his captains, the two fleets unknowingly passed within a few miles of each other – an opportunity to catch Napoleon at sea
         and change the course of history was lost.
      

      
      On board Napoleon’s flagship, the Orient, Bourrienne noted that ‘while we were at sea he [Napoleon] seldom rose before ten o’clock in the morning. The Orient had almost the appearance of a town, from which women had been excluded, and this floating town had two thousand inhabitants,
         amongst whom were a great number of distinguished men.’28 Napoleon was taking to Egypt an extraordinary party of civilian scholars. Despite his inviting them on a tropical voyage without revealing
         the destination, over 150 members of the French National Institute were willing to join the expedition. If Nelson had sunk
         the French fleet on its way to Egypt, the cream of France’s intellectual and artistic talent would have been lost, including
         astronomers, civil engineers, draughtsmen, linguists, mathematicians, orientalists, artists, poets and musicians. For this
         very reason, the scholars were dispersed around at least seventeen ships.
      

      
      It was an extraordinary idea of Napoleon’s to take a large group of talented civilians on such a perilous military adventure
         – no other commander-in-chief would have even considered it, yet his exact motives are unknown. Their presence did allow Napoleon
         to claim that the expedition was a civilising mission, not one of imperial conquest. Perhaps more significantly, Alexander
         the Great had also taken a group of scholars and scientists on his Persian campaign, and Napoleon saw himself as following
         in the footsteps of Alexander.
      

      
      With the wind in their favour, the British fleet was making a fast passage to Egypt, and on 24 June Sir James Saumarez on
         board the Orion wrote in his diary, ‘The last two days we have not gone less than a hundred leagues*; and, as the wind continues favourable, we hope to arrive at Alexandria before the French, should their destination be for
         that place, which continues very doubtful. At the same time, if it should prove that our possessions in India is the object
         of their armament [military expedition], our having followed them so immediately appears the only means of saving that country
         from falling into their hands.’29 Two days later Nelson sent Hardy ahead in the brig Mutine to forewarn the British consul at Alexandria and discover if there was any news of the French. By sunset on the 28th the
         British fleet was within sight of the port, but no French ships were to be seen. Nelson, with no hard evidence that the French
         were actually on course for Egypt, was suffering immense stress from apparently having made the wrong decision. Impatient
         to take action, he decided to search the eastern Mediterranean – again it was a mistake. The British fleet set sail north-eastwards
         on the morning of the 30th, and just twenty-five hours later the French fleet was anchored off Alexandria. Bourrienne recounted
         how they discovered their good fortune at being missed by Nelson:
      

      
      The expedition arrived off the coast of Africa on the morning of 1 July, and the [Roman] column of Septimus Severus indicated
         to us the city of Alexandria … Admiral Brueys [naval commander of the French fleet] had sent on beforehand the frigate Juno to fetch … the French Consul. It was nearly four o’clock when he arrived, and the sea was very rough. He informed the general-in-chief
         that Nelson had been off Alexandria on 28 June and that he had straightaway sent a brig to obtain news from the English agent.
         On the return of the brig Nelson had immediately led his squadron towards the north-east. Without the delay that our convoy
         from Civita Vecchia has caused, we would have been in these waters at the same time as Nelson … It appeared that Nelson believed
         us to be already at Alexandria when he arrived there. He had reason for this, seeing that we had left Malta on 19 June, while
         he only left Messina on the 21st. Not finding us, and convinced that we should be there if that was our destination, he left
         these shores and sailed for Alexandretta in Syria, where he thought we might have landed in order to travel into Asia. This
         error saved the expedition a second time.30

      
      Bourrienne next described Napoleon’s actions – as impatient as those of Nelson:

      
      Bonaparte, struck and convinced, as you might think, by the details which the French Consul gave him, resolved to disembark
         immediately. Admiral Brueys put to him the difficulties and dangers of disembarkation, the violence of the waves, the distance
         from the coast – a coast lined with reefs – the approaching night, and the complete ignorance of places suitable for landing.
         The Admiral urged him to wait for the following morning; that is nearly twelve hours, and that Nelson could not return from
         his move to Syria for several days. Bonaparte listened to these representations with impatience and illhumour. He replied
         abruptly, ‘Admiral, we don’t have time to lose, fortune only gives me three days; if I do not make use of it, we are lost.’
         Fortune counted a lot with him. This chimerical idea constantly influenced his resolve. With General Bonaparte having command
         of the navy and army, the Admiral [Brueys] had to give in to his wishes.31

      
      If Nelson’s impatience had been unfortunate, leading him to miss the French fleet on two occasions, Napoleon’s impatience
         was to prove equally unlucky. Preparations for landing began immediately. The fleet anchored as close inshore as they could,
         but Marabout beach was shallow and the nearest ships were 1½ miles offshore. With the rough weather it was several hours before all the boats were lowered and the first wave of troops had scrambled down into them. Fortunately for
         the French the landing was unopposed, because by the time they reached land the troops were seasick and exhausted, many were
         drenched, and some were injured where boats capsized or ran aground. In Napoleon’s official report, he estimated that about
         twenty men lost their lives during the landing, but the real figure was probably higher.
      

      
      Disembarkation of the army was not completed until 3 July, but only a couple of hours after the first soldiers landed, at
         dawn on the 2nd, Napoleon led a column of around five thousand troops in a march on Alexandria. No artillery, horses or even
         drinking water had been unloaded from the ships, and the tired and hungry soldiers carried nothing but their weapons and the
         clothes they marched in – many, suffering from seasickness, had left their food rations and water on board the ships. From
         the landing place at Marabout to Alexandria no road existed, and the few wells and water cisterns were sabotaged by nomadic
         Bedouin Arabs, who also continually harassed the French and captured and raped any stragglers.
      

      
      The French reached the outskirts of Alexandria at eight in the morning, and although the troops were exhausted and suffering
         from extreme heat and thirst, Napoleon ordered an immediate attack. The inhabitants were poorly armed, terrified of the approaching
         army and had spent the night sending messages to Cairo begging for reinforcements. The French, desperate for water and facing
         only feeble resistance, had control of the city in under three hours. One French officer later wrote to his family, ‘Confidentially,
         I can assure you that the thirst of our soldiers was the prime motive in capturing Alexandria. At the point the army had reached,
         it was a question of finding water or perishing.’32

      
      If anything, there was less reason for an attack on Egypt than for taking Malta: it was unprovoked aggression against a neutral
         country that was part of the Turkish Ottoman Empire. Napoleon’s excuse for the invasion was that the French were there to
         rescue the people of Egypt from the tyrannical rule of the Mamelukes, who were, in effect, the aristocrats of Egypt and ruled
         the country on behalf of the sultan of Turkey. Napoleon knew that it was only a matter of time before the Turks sent an army
         against him, and although such an army was unlikely to be as difficult to tackle as the Mamelukes, he could not defeat them
         both at once – he must press on and subdue the Mamelukes and take control of Egypt before the Turks arrived.
      

      
      Five days after arriving in Alexandria, the troops were divided into three groups: Napoleon left on 7 July, leading a force
         to capture Cairo, the next day General Menou took his men to Rosetta by sea and the remainder stayed in Alexandria. From Napoleon’s
         point of view, the invasion of Egypt was going well, but the soldiers saw the situation differently. One wrote to his parents:
      

      
      We marched seventeen days without bread, wine, or brandy and five without water, over burning sands, with the enemy close
         at our heels! … We had to combat barbarians, wholly unacquainted with the rights of war, who exercised every species of cruelty
         upon the unhappy men who fell into their hands: cutting off the ears of one, the nose of another, the head of a third, and
         many other things … Which I tremble whenever I think of … Discontent was painted on every face, and the whole army was on
         the point of refusing to advance. A great number of soldiers blew out their brains, and many flung themselves into the Nile.33

      
      Having been plunged from the cramped ships and unending seasickness into the fierce and waterless desert, without suitable
         clothing or equipment, the troops were rapidly becoming demoralised and were dying even before they fought any battles. Lieutenant
         Desvernois wrote that ‘the soldiers accuse the generals for the unbelievable sufferings that they have endured since they
         left the ships; they cry, they ask what they have done wrong that the generals lead them in this way to die in a desert’.34

      
      As Napoleon led his forces inland in search of the Mamelukes, Nelson continued to lead his fleet round the Mediterranean in
         search of the French. Having sailed northwards towards Turkey, the British fleet turned west on 2 July to head back towards
         Sicily and Naples, arriving at Syracuse in Sicily on the 20th. Here the ships loaded fresh supplies, and many took the opportunity
         to send letters home. Nelson wrote to his wife Frances, ‘I have not been able to find the French Fleet, to my great mortification,
         or the event [British victory] I can scarcely doubt. We have been off Malta, to Alexandria in Egypt, Syria, into Asia, and
         are returned here without success: however, no person will say that it has been for want of activity. I yet live in hopes
         of meeting these fellows: but it would have been my delight to have tried Buonaparte on a wind [caught Napoleon at sea], for
         he commands the Fleet, as well as the Army.’35 Nelson also wrote to Sir William Hamilton at Naples, giving him the latest news, or rather the lack of it: ‘It is an old
         saying, “the Devil’s children have the Devil’s luck.” I cannot find, or to this moment learn, beyond vague conjecture where the French Fleet are gone to. All my
         ill fortune, hitherto, has proceeded from want of Frigates.’36 Without these fast scouting ships to gather information and search for the enemy, Nelson was severely handicapped, reliant
         on deducing the whereabouts of the French from random snippets of information that came his way. Napoleon had escaped him.
      

   
      
      TWO

      
            [image: image]

      BATTLE OF THE NILE

      
      
         I arrived there [Aboukir Bay] in the afternoon, and formed a line of battle at two-thirds of a cable-length, the headmost vessel being as close as possible to a shoal to the north-west of us, and the rest of the fleet forming a kind of curve along the line of deep water, so as
            not to be turned, by any means, in the south-west. This position is the strongest we could possibly take.
         

         Letter to the Minister of Marine in Paris from Admiral Brueys1
         

      

      
      Nelson’s fleet sailed eastwards from Sicily on 24 July 1798 and five days later was off the southern coast of Greece, when
         at last reliable intelligence about the French arrived. From the entries in his diary, Sir James Saumarez gives some idea
         of how information percolated through the British fleet, filling out the terse signal messages:
      

      
      Sunday 29th July … A small vessel, captured yesterday by the Culloden, gave some information of the enemy’s fleet. The Admiral [Nelson] having made the signal that he had gained intelligence
         of them, we are proceeding with a brisk gale for Alexandria. If at the end of our voyage we find the enemy in a situation
         where we can attack them, we shall think ourselves amply repaid for our various disappointments. The Alexander also spoke [to] a vessel which gave information; but, having had no communication with the Admiral, we have not been able
         to learn the different accounts: we are however satisfied with the purport of the signal he made yesterday. Monday. – I find
         from Captain Ball [of the Alexander] that the enemy were seen steering towards Alexandria thirty days ago, and we are once more making the best of our way for that place. I also understand that two of our frigates were seen a few days since at Candia [Heraklion, Crete]; it seems
         decreed we shall never meet with them. I am rather surprised the Admiral did not endeavour to fall in with them, as they probably
         have certain information where the enemy’s fleet are, from vessels they may have spoken with, and they otherwise would be
         a great acquisition to our squadron.2

      
      In the four weeks since the British fleet had left Egypt, the French had gained control of the northern seaboard of the country.
         Once Alexandria was in French hands, the transport ships were brought into harbour, and the horses, artillery and stores were
         unloaded, but there was a problem with the warships. Some were carrying artillery and heavy equipment that was difficult to
         land in small boats, and so Napoleon ordered Admiral Brueys to take the warships into the two harbours as well. The forty-five-year-old
         Admiral, François-Paul de Brueys d’Aigalliers, was one of the few aristocratic naval officers to have survived the French
         Revolution, and Napoleon had specifically asked him to command the fleet. Brueys sent some officers to survey the harbours,
         and their report confirmed his suspicions. One harbour was too shallow and too open, and the only channel giving suitable
         access to the other one was so narrow that warships would have great difficulty sailing through. Once in this harbour they
         could easily be trapped by one or two enemy warships.
      

      
      Brueys was in favour of taking his warships to a safe harbour in Corfu once the remaining artillery and stores were landed,
         but Napoleon wanted the ships close at hand. After a week of discussion Napoleon prevailed, and Brueys anchored the fleet
         in Aboukir Bay, 12 miles east of Alexandria. This anchorage was not ideal, with numerous sandbanks and little protection from
         the wind. Nevertheless, the bay offered the chance to unload the ships while they were anchored in a defensive formation.
         Within these treacherous waters, Brueys deployed his thirteen battleships in a line running approximately south-east to north-west,
         with their bows facing north-west and gaps of roughly 175 yards between the ships, so that the whole line was nearly 2 miles
         long. Four frigates formed a parallel line between the battleships and the shore, and there were two groups of gun-boats nearer
         the beach, as well as artillery batteries set up on the coast and on a small island. It seemed a strong position, as the French
         assumed that the British would use traditional tactics of attacking in a line and so would sail down the outside of their
         formation.
      

      
      One serious flaw was overlooked. The ships were anchored at the bow only, so that they were free to swing with the prevailing
         wind. This left the possibility of enemy ships anchoring between the ships, out of reach of the French guns. Their position
         could have been improved by springs on the anchor cables (ropes running from both sides of a ship to the cable so that the
         ship could be turned by hauling on one of these ropes), as this would have allowed guns to cover the blind spots. A stronger
         position would have been to close the gaps, with the ships immobilised by anchoring them at both bow and stern. Brueys, however,
         was satisfied with the arrangement, particularly as he had other distractions. The fleet was running desperately short of
         food, water and firewood – most of the supplies had been unloaded and taken by the army. On 12 July Brueys wrote to the Minister
         of Marine in Paris, ‘We look forward with the greatest anxiety to the time when the conquest of Egypt shall furnish us with
         provisions. We are now obliged to supply the troops continually – every hour new drains are made upon us. We have now only
         fifteen days’ biscuit on board, and we are in this anchorage just as if we were on the high seas – consuming everything, and
         replacing nothing.’3 In addition, attacks by the Bedouin made it essential that foraging parties from the ships were large and well armed, so
         that considerable numbers of sailors were absent from their ships. In the same letter, Brueys complained: ‘Our crews are weak
         both in number and quality. Our rigging, in general, out of repair, and I am sure that it requires no little courage to undertake
         the management of a fleet furnished with such tools! I do not think it necessary to enter into any further details on our
         present situation. You are a seaman, and will therefore conceive it better than I can describe it to you.’4 In all, the impressive line of French warships anchored in Aboukir Bay was a good deal weaker than it looked.
      

      
      After nearly three months of searching, the British fleet arrived back at Alexandria on 1 August to find the transports in
         the harbour, but no sign of warships. It was another bitter blow, as Saumarez admitted:
      

      
      When on the morning of the 1st August the reconnoitring ship made the signal that the enemy was not there, despondency nearly
         took possession of my mind, and I do not recollect ever to have felt so utterly hopeless, or out of spirits, as when we sat
         down to dinner; judge then what a change took place when, as the cloth was being removed, the officer of the watch hastily
         came in, saying, ‘Sir, a signal is just now made that the enemy is in Aboukir Bay, and moored in a line of battle.’ All sprang from their seats, and only staying to drink a bumper* to our success, we were in a moment on deck.5

      
      At this point most of the British ships were about 9 miles from the French, although the Alexander and the Swiftsure were ahead, 2 or 3 miles away, and the Culloden was trailing about 7 miles behind because it was towing a French ship that had been captured off the Greek coast. With relatively
         light winds it would take about two hours to reach the enemy, yet it was now half past two in the afternoon, with sunset due
         around seven o’clock. If they were to fight straight away, the battle would be at night. Nelson did not hesitate and pressed
         on towards the French.
      

      
      As soon as the British fleet was spotted, Rear-Admiral Blanquet du Chayla recalled that ‘the signal was then made for all
         the boats, workmen, and guards to repair on board of their respective ships, which was only obeyed by a small number’.6 Although the ships were short of men, the French were not unduly worried, as they expected the British to wait until the
         next day before attacking. Nevertheless, Blanquet du Chayla noted, ‘At 3 o’clock, the Admiral [Brueys] not having any doubt
         but the ships in sight were the enemy, he ordered the hammocks to be stowed for action’7, and two hours later, ‘the enemy came to the wind [in order to turn] in succession. This manoeuvre convinced us that they
         intended attacking us that evening.’8 This was very much to the advantage of the British, as it allowed the French only the minimum time to prepare, and although
         they would soon be fighting in the dark, Nelson was relying on his captains to use their initiative – essential when effective
         communication between ships would be impossible. In terms of the number of guns carried by the battleships, the French and
         British were evenly matched, but the guns of their frigates, gunboats and shore batteries gave the French the advantage.
      

      
      On board Captain Thomas Foley’s ship, the Goliath, a midshipman by the name of George Elliot celebrated his fourteenth birthday gazing at the French fleet as the British swept
         in to attack, being as he was in ‘the leading ship of the fleet, in which no order of sailing was kept, but each ship got on as fast as she could, by way of gaining time’.9 In fact, it was something of a race between the first two ships, and the Goliath was only ‘first by half the length of a ship, but Captain Hood of the Zealous was very much senior to Foley, and was a likely man to make a push for the post of honour’.10 Foley hoisted more sail and pushed on towards the French, with the added advantage of being the only British captain with
         an accurate chart of the area – a French one of 1764. Elliot assumed that ‘Hood was annoyed but could not help it … Foley
         therefore stood on, and Hood followed him, but the third ship in the line, the Audacious, brought to [stopped], and of course forced the [following] two ships between her and Vanguard to do the same. A gap was thus made between the Goliath and the Zealous and the rest of the fleet of about seven miles, for we never shortened sail till we were coming to an anchor. The battle
         therefore began by only two ships against the whole of the enemy’s van*.’11

      
      The first French ship was the Guerrier, and Midshipman Elliot recorded how they decided to attack from the inshore side:
      

      
      When we were nearly within gun-shot†, standing as aide-de-camp close to the Captain, I heard him say to the master that he wished he could get inside of the leading
         ship of the enemy’s line. I immediately looked for the buoy on her anchor, and saw it apparently at the usual distance of
         a cable’s length (i.e. 200 yards), which I reported; they both looked at it, and agreed there was room to pass between the ship and her anchor,
         (the danger was, the ship being close up to the edge of the shoal), and it was decided to do it … All this was exactly executed.
         I also heard Foley say, he should not be surprised to find the Frenchman unprepared for action on the inner side – and as we passed her bow I saw he was right, her lower-deck guns were not run out, and there was lumber, such as bags and
         boxes on the upper-deck ports, which I reported with no small pleasure.12

      
      This was the advantage that would prove the key to success. Foley realised that because the French ships were only anchored
         at the bow, a strip of deep water must have been left between the ships and the shallows to allow them to swing inshore without
         grounding. If some British ships worked their way down the inside of the line, the French ships could be attacked from both
         sides. Brueys had not foreseen this tactic, and the guns on the inshore side were unmanned and obstructed. The British also
         had the wind behind them, while French ships further down the line could not sail directly into the wind and so were virtually
         powerless.
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      Plan of the Battle of the Nile

      Foley took the Goliath along the inside of the Guerrier and fired a broadside at close range. This manoeuvre took Captain Samuel Hood by surprise, but he kept his ship, the Zealous, steadily within the wake of the Goliath, as he later recalled: ‘The van ship of the enemy being in five fathoms water [we] expected the Goliath and Zealous to stick on the shoal every moment, and did not imagine we should attempt to pass within her … Captain Foley of course intended
         anchoring abreast of the van ship, but his sheet-anchor … not dropping the moment he wished it, [he] missed.’13 By the time the sailors managed to drop the anchor, the Goliath had already passed the Guerrier. Captain Hood’s Zealous had anchored just before the French line, but he now moved to fill the gap: ‘I saw immediately he [Foley] had failed of his
         intention, [so I] cut away the Zealous’s sheet anchor and came to in the exact situation Captain Foley intended to have taken, the van ship of the enemy having
         his larboard bow toward the Zealous.’14 This was a standard tactical move: because the majority of guns were positioned along both sides of a warship, the bow and
         stern were relatively unprotected blind spots – by anchoring just off the bow, the Zealous could fire all the guns of one side (a broadside) into the Guerrier, which could only return fire from a handful of guns at the bow.
      

      
      Despite having known of the approach of the British fleet for at least three hours, the French had not believed the British
         would attack that night, and they were equally surprised by the speed of events, since the British ships did not even pause
         to regroup but sailed straight in with their guns blazing. In the Goliath, Midshipman Elliot observed the confusion and panic:
      

      
      Foley’s running on with only one ship to support him [the Zealous] …was also most fortunate. The French captains were all on board their admiral’s ship [the Orient] and did not expect us to come in that night; they had sent for their boats to return from the shore, where they were procuring
         water. The senior officer of the van division, seeing us stand on under all sail, got anxious and sent his own boat to hasten off the boats of his division, without waiting
         to fill with water – she had not got back when we were getting very close, and as his own launch was passing the flagship,
         half laden with water, he got into her, but she pulled up slowly against the fresh sea breeze … I saw him waving his hat and
         evidently calling to his ship when still at a considerable distance. An officer was leaning against his ensign staff listening;
         at last this officer ran forward to the poop and down to the quarter deck. We knew what was coming, and off went their whole
         broadside but just too late to hit us.15

      
      Having fired a broadside into the Guerrier in passing, the Goliath belatedly anchored between the Conquérant and the Spartiate, the second and third ships in the French line, while the Zealous took on the Guerrier as Captain Hood described: ‘I commenced [such] a well-directed fire into her bow within pistol shot* a little after six [o’clock] that her fore mast went by the board in about seven minutes, just as the sun was closing the
         horizon, on which the whole squadron gave three cheers, it happening before the next ship astern of me had fired a shot and
         only the Goliath and Zealous [were] engaged. And in ten minutes more her main and mizzen masts [fell]. At this time also went the main mast of the second
         ship, engaged closely by the Goliath and Audacious.’16

      
      By now the Audacious, third of the British ships, also managed to pass inshore of the French and anchored between the first and second of their
         ships. The next to arrive was the Orion, commanded by Sir James Saumarez, and he too decided to go on the inside of the French line. To do so the Orion passed on the inside of the Zealous, Audacious and Goliath, even closer to the shallow water, but without running aground. This course took the Orion within range of the French frigate Sérieuse. Frigates did not normally take part in full-scale battles, since their fire-power was much less than that of a battleship,
         and by convention battleships did not fire on a frigate unless the frigate fired first. This allowed frigates to sit on the
         sidelines of a battle, repeating signals, towing drifting vessels away and generally helping where they could. As the Orion passed by, Captain Jean Martin of the frigate Sérieuse decided he must act and fired a broadside into the Orion that did some damage and wounded two men. The total weight of the cannonballs fired by the Sérieuse was roughly 300 pounds. A broadside from the Orion, with the guns double-shotted, would be at least five times heavier, and officers on board proposed opening fire on the frigate
         immediately. Saumarez, though, wanted to be sure of his prey and replied, ‘Let her alone, she will get courage and come nearer.
         Shorten sail†.’17 Saumarez was right, and as the Orion slowed down, ‘the frigate came up, and when judged to be sufficiently advanced [towards the Orion], orders were given to yaw the Orion [swinging off course to point the guns towards the Sérieuse], and stand by the starboard guns, which were double-shotted. The moment having arrived when every gun was brought to bear, the fatal order to fire was given, when, by this single but well-directed broadside, the unfortunate Sérieuse was not only totally dismasted, but shortly afterwards sunk.’18

      
      The Orion came to anchor off the bows of the Peuple Souverain, while Captain Ralph Miller, an American from New York serving in the British Navy, also took his ship, the Theseus, inside the French line. He manoeuvred between the Zealous and the Guerrier, to anchor in front of the Goliath. Midshipman Elliot in the Goliath was pleased that the Theseus, ‘passing within ten yards gave us three most hearty cheers, which our men returned from their guns pretty well. The French
         were ordered by their officers to cheer in return, but they made such a lamentable mess of it that the laughter in our ships was distinctly heard … It is a disputed point, whether cheering should be allowed. I say decidedly yes. No other nation can cheer. It encourages us and disheartens the enemy. I still distinctly recollect the stirring feelings of these men’s cheers.’19

      
      Five British ships were now inshore of the French, engaged with the first six ships of their line, and Nelson led his remaining
         ships down the outside of the line, anchoring his flagship, the Vanguard, opposite the Spartiate, which was already fighting the Theseus. For fear of hitting the Vanguard, the Theseus redirected fire from the Spartiate to the adjacent Aquilon as the Vanguard opened up with the starboard broadside. The Minotaur sailed in to anchor before the Vanguard, and the Defence anchored ahead of the Minotaur, while the Bellerophon, intending to pull up in front of the Defence, anchored too late, and instead of engaging the Franklin, took on the French flagship Orient. The battle was in full flow, with the first seven ships in the French line caught between five British ships on one side
         and four on the other.
      

      
      By now it was seven o’clock and darkness had fallen. The British ship Majestic was next to arrive and tried to anchor off the stern of the Orient to help the Bellerophon, but instead drastically overshot, becoming entangled with the French ship Heureux. The Culloden, having left off towing the captured ship, made good speed to catch up with the rest of the fleet, but in his haste to join
         the action Captain Thomas Troubridge took the ship too close to Aboukir Island and hit a rock. The Culloden was stuck fast for the rest of the battle, and with the leaks increasing and the water rising, the entry in the log for the
         next day began: ‘People employed throwing shot and provisions of all sorts overboard and sending some on board the Mutine [brig]. Found the ship make[s] more water. Sent all hands to the pumps.’20 Seeing the Culloden aground, the Alexander and Swiftsure steered well clear of the reef, and the Alexander joined the attack on the Orient, while the Canadian captain Benjamin Hallowell took the Swiftsure into a position between the Franklin and the Orient. The Leander, a 50-gun ship that was not really a frigate or a full-sized battleship, stopped to help the Mutine with the stranded Culloden, but then moved on to join the fight against the Franklin.
      

      
      At nine o’clock the first part of the battle had run its course, as Captain Miller related in a letter to his wife:

      
      Having now brought all our ships into battle, which you are to suppose raging in all magnificent, awful, and horrific grandeur,
         I proceed to relate the general events of it as I saw them. The Guerrier and Conquérant made a very inefficient resistance … and about 8 o’clock, I think, were totally silent. The Spartiate resisted much longer, and … her larboard* guns were fired on us in the beginning with great quickness, but after the Admiral [Nelson in the Vanguard] anchored on his starboard side, it was slow and irregular, and before or about 9 o’clock she was silenced, and had also
         lost her main and mizzen masts: the Aquilon was silenced a little earlier, with the loss of all her masts, having the whole fire of the Minotaur on her starboard side, and, for some time, nearly half ours on her larboard bow. Le Peuple Souverain was, about the same time, entirely dismasted and silenced.21

      
      By this point, Nelson had been wounded. Around half past eight he was on the quarterdeck† of the Vanguard when the Spartiate fired a broadside. He was ‘struck in the forehead by a langridge shot, or a piece of iron, and the skin being cut by it at
         right angles, it hung down over his face, and as it covered his eye, he was perfectly blind’‡.22 ‘Langridge’ was a general term for scrap iron, musket-balls or anything else likely to maim or kill, packed in a cylindrical
         tin case and fired from a cannon. As the case dis-integrated on firing, the effect was like a huge shot-gun, and was frequently
         used to cut a swath through groups of men on an exposed deck. Nelson fell, his face covered in blood, and Captain Berry caught
         him in his arms as he cried out, ‘I am killed; remember me to my wife.’23 Nelson was taken below to the surgeon, Mr Jefferson, exclaiming, ‘I will take my turn with my brave followers!’24 It was the general custom for the wounded to be seen by the surgeon in the order in which they came to the cockpit, where he operated deep within the ship.
         Because of this, some men with minor wounds bled to death while waiting their turn. Nelson, who always took a pessimistic
         view when he was injured, ‘felt convinced that his wound was mortal. Mr. Jefferson assured him, on probing the wound, that
         there was no immediate danger. He [Nelson] would not, however, indulge any hope.’25

      
      This was an era when naval officers of most nations, and certainly those in the British, French and Spanish navies, had a
         paternalistic attitude to their men and a strong sense of honour and chivalry. They led from the front, winning the respect
         of their crews by an exaggerated disregard for their own safety. While the sailors used any available cover to avoid the worst
         of the enemy’s broadsides, it was a point of honour among the officers that they paced the deck proudly in all their finery
         and did not flinch at the lethal showers of missiles. On board the Tonnant Captain Aristide Aubert Dupetit-Thouars certainly did not flinch. An experienced officer, he had rejoined the French Navy
         only a year before the battle. Under heavy fire, Dupetit-Thouars refused to surrender and had the French flag nailed to the
         mast*. In the hail of projectiles flying across the deck, he had one foot shot away and his leg was broken. After the lower leg
         was amputated, he continued to command the ship until he bled to death, and his last words were ‘Never strike the flag!’26 On his instructions his body was thrown overboard so that he would not fall into British hands.
      

      
      By the time Nelson was wounded, Captain Westcott of the Majestic was dead, and several British officers were injured, including Sir James Saumarez on board the Orion, seriously wounded from a splinter in the thigh. The word ‘splinter’, given to any wooden fragments flying through the air,
         is misleading since it implies a very small piece of wood. Splinters were of any size, as the force of a cannonball at close
         range could smash pieces several feet long from any part of a wooden ship. The splinter that wounded Saumarez was the sheave
         (grooved wooden wheel) from a pulley block that had been smashed off a mast. Saumarez was lucky, since this splinter had already
         killed Mr Baird, his clerk, and severely wounded Midshipman Charles Miells, and so its momentum had been reduced, or Saumarez
         might have been killed outright. As it was, the blow knocked him over and he was stunned with pain and shock, ‘but although he acknowledged it was painful, and might in the end be serious
         [requiring amputation to stop gangrene spreading], he could not be persuaded to leave the deck even to have the wound examined’.27 Saumarez survived without needing amputation, but after the battle the wound was so bad that he was unable to leave his ship
         to join the other captains for a celebration.
      

      
      In the Vanguard Nelson was eventually seen by the surgeon, who, ‘having bound up and dressed the wound, requested the Admiral to remain quiet
         in the bread-room’.28 Nelson found this impossible – it was observed that
      

      
      nothing could repress his anxious and enthusiastic disposition. He immediately ordered his secretary, Mr. Campbell, to attend
         him in the breadroom, that no time might be lost in writing [his dispatch] to the Admiralty. This gentleman [Campbell] … had
         been himself wounded, and beholding the blind and suffering state of the Admiral, became so much affected, that he could not
         write. The Chaplain was then summoned, but the eagerness and impatience of Nelson increasing, he took the pen himself, and
         contrived to trace some words which marked at that awful moment his devout sense of the success he had then obtained.29

      
      The battle was not yet over, but it was already clear to Nelson which side would win.

      
      Of all the naval battles of the period, this one was unusual because few eyewitness accounts by ordinary seamen have survived.
         Officers were more likely to keep diaries and journals, and to write their memoirs in later life, but the letters to family
         and friends at home, which so often give a glimpse of the experiences of the sailors, were lost – thrown overboard with the
         code books when the Leander, carrying dispatches to England, was captured by the Généreux, one of the ships that escaped from the battle. John Nicol in the Goliath did write his memoirs. He was helping the gunner in the powder magazine make up cartridges for the guns, away from the action,
         which was something he regretted: ‘I would, if had I my choice, been on the deck; there I would have seen what was passing
         and the time would not have hung so heavy; but every man does his duty with spirit, whether his station be in the slaughterhouse
         or the magazine.’30 The ‘slaughterhouse’ was what seamen called the middle section of the gun deck, where enemy fire tended to be concentrated
         and where the greatest damage and highest number of casualties usually occurred. By contrast, the vulnerable magazines where the gunpowder was stored were
         the most protected parts of the ship, usually below the waterline. Having been sealed off from the rest of the ship as much
         as possible, the magazines were always hot, stuffy and dark, but especially so on an August night off the Egyptian coast.
         No lantern could be allowed inside, and the magazines were illuminated by light cupboards or light rooms in which lanterns
         were placed so that they shone through thick glass windows into the magazine, so preventing the risk of explosion. The walls
         of the magazine were painted white to maximise the effect of the lanterns, but even so the light was dim.
      

      
      Nicol complained that ‘I saw as little of this action as I did of the one on the 14th February [1797] off Cape St Vincent
         … Any information we got was from the boys and women who carried the powder.’31 The presence of women in navy ships at sea was against regulations, but many captains allowed the wives of petty officers
         to live on board, and during any fighting they either helped as ‘powder monkeys’, carrying gunpowder cartridges to the guns,
         or else assisted the surgeon as nurses. Nicol recalled that ‘the women behaved as well as the men, and got a present for their
         bravery from the Grand Signior … I was much indebted to the gunner’s wife, who gave her husband and me a drink of wine every
         now and then, which lessened our fatigue much. There were some of the women wounded, and one woman belonging to Leith [in
         Scotland] died of her wounds, and was buried on a small island in the bay. One woman bore a son in the heat of the action;
         she belonged to Edinburgh.’32

      
      It was not unusual for women to give birth during a battle, as the noise and stress of the situation tended to induce labour.
         Nor was it unusual for the women to have their children with them on board ship. For the previous major battle off Cape St
         Vincent, where Nicol had also missed seeing the action, it has been calculated that at least twenty-three women and twenty
         children were in the British ships, but it is not known exactly how many women were on board the ships in Aboukir Bay. In
         the Orion there was at least one: Ann Hopping, wife of the second gunner, Edward Hopping, who is known to have earned money as a seamstress,
         working for Captain Sir James Saumarez. She had also been at Cape St Vincent, where she had helped her husband serve out cartridges
         from the magazine. She was now twenty-nine and had two young daughters, although it is uncertain if they were on board as
         well. Towards the end of her life (when better known as Nancy Perriam), Ann’s memories of this battle at Aboukir were written
         down, and she recalled:
      

      
      When the order to ‘Clear for action’ was given, she had just begun a flannel shirt for Sir James Saumarez. During the action
         she served out powder and also assisted the surgeons in the Cockpit. She was standing by when the surgeon took out from the
         socket [amputated] the arm of a midshipman … a protégé of Sir James Saumarez. During the operation the poor child never uttered
         a groan, and when it was finished he turned his head towards her and said, ‘Have I not borne it like a man?’ The words were
         scarcely uttered when a cold shiver seized him, and in an instant his young soul had entered the land of immortal life.33

      
      On board the Goliath, as well as the gunner’s wife mentioned by Nicol, at least four other women were present: Ann Taylor, Elizabeth Moore, Sarah
         Bates and Mary French. Three were wives of seamen, and Mary French was the wife a marine. All four men were killed in the
         battle. Afterwards Captain Foley took the unusual step of entering these women in the muster book, ‘being the widows of men
         Slain in fight on the 1st Augt 1798 victualled at ⅔ds allowance by Captains order, in consideration of their assistance in Dressing and attending on the Wounded’.34 These women were provided with victuals from the ship’s stores until 30 November, ‘their further assistance not being required’35. This provision for widows was most unusual. Another widow, Christiann White, later wrote to Nelson asking for help:
      

      
      Your petitioner Christiann White has taken the liberty to lay her case before your Lordship, that I lost my husband in your
         glorious action of the 1st of August 1798 at the Nile, and during the action I attended the surgeon in dressing the wounded
         men, and likewise attended the sick and wounded during the passage to Gibraltar which was 11 weeks on board his Majesty’s
         ship Majestic, where we lost the Honourable Captain Westcott, and as for myself was left a widow and with 2 children to the mercy of God.
         Your petitioner humbly hopes that your Lordship will consider her worthy of your notice.36

      
      In theory, widows of seamen who died on active service were entitled to the men’s back pay and a small pension, but relatively
         few women received these as the bureaucratic process of claiming was so complicated. The way that the pension fund was financed
         was even more arcane. Every naval ship’s muster book carried a number of ‘widow’s men’, usually in the proportion of two for
         every hundred men in the crew, and the pay of these imaginary crew members was set aside as a contribution to the fund. In addition the personal belongings of a man
         who died at sea were usually auctioned off to other crew members, with the money going to the next of kin, and for famous
         battles that caught the public imagination subscriptions were raised to support widows and orphans, but for relatives of men
         killed in the many minor battles and skirmishes, or by accident or disease, support for dependants was haphazard. On top of
         this, the lack of regular and reliable communications meant that it could be months or even years before a widow found out
         that her husband was dead.
      

      
      As the battle continued, the fighting around the Goliath was fierce, and in the magazine Nicol was kept informed of what was happening by the powder monkeys, who ‘brought us every
         now and then the cheering news of another French ship having struck, and we answered the cheers on deck with heart-felt joy’.37 Even the magazine was not a completely safe haven, though, as ‘in the heat of the action, a shot came right into the magazine,
         but did no harm, as the carpenters plugged it up, and stopped the water that was rushing in’.38 Then, at around ten o’clock, Nicol related that ‘the Goliath got such a shake, we thought the after-part of her had blown up until the boys told us what it was’39 – the French flagship Orient had exploded.
      

      
      The Orient had been under attack by the Bellerophon from about seven o’clock – an unequal contest since the Orient had 120 guns on three decks, whereas the Bellerophon had only seventy-four on two decks. Within an hour the Bellerophon’s mizzenmast and mainmast were shot away, at least sixteen guns were out of action and the ship was badly battered. The anchor
         cable was cut and the Bellerophon began to drift away from the battle. The Alexander took up the fight by anchoring behind the Orient and firing into the vulnerable stern, while the Swiftsure attacked the Orient’s bow. The Alexander’s broadsides started a fire in the stern cabin of the Orient that quickly spread to the upper decks and was soon out of control.
      

      
      On board the Orient was Brueys’s chief-of-staff, Honoré-Joseph-Antoine Ganteaume, who later recalled ‘an explosion took place on the aft of the
         quarter-deck. We had already had a boat on fire, but we had cut it away, and so avoided the danger. We had also thrown a hammock,
         and some other things, which were in flames, overboard, but this third time, the fire spread so rapidly and instantaneously
         amongst the fragments of every kind, with which the poop was incumbered, that all was soon in flames.’40 Fire on board ship was something all seamen feared, because so little could be achieved with small pumps and buckets of water, but Ganteaume saw that ‘the fire pumps had been dashed to
         pieces by the enemy’s balls, and the tubs and buckets rendered useless. An order was given to cease firing, that all hands
         might be at liberty to bring water, but such was the ardour of the moment, that in the tumult, the guns of the main-deck still
         continued their fire. Although the officers had called all the people between decks, aloft, the flames had in a very short
         time, made a most alarming progress, and we had but few means in our power of checking them.’41

      
      Once the flames were out of control, it was only a matter of time before the ship was destroyed. As the fire spread up the
         rigging and masts of the Orient, the effect was like a gigantic torch illuminating the battle area, and the ships nearest to the Orient began to move away to what was hoped would be a safe distance. Over a mile away, Midshipman Elliot was uncertain what ship
         was on fire: ‘Long after it was quite dark, perhaps about ten o’clock, we saw a ship down the line on fire – it was long before
         we could judge which party she belonged to – our share of the action was all but over, and we looked on with great suspense – at last, as the fire increased, we saw her three decks, which decided the point, as we had but two-deck ships. We wished to send boats down, but, on examination, had not one that
         could be made to swim, so shattered were they all. It was an awful sight.’42

      
      On board the Swiftsure the Reverend Cooper Willyams had a close-up view:
      

      
      At three minutes past nine o’clock a fire was observed to have broken out in the cabin of L’Orient … The conflagration now began to rage with dreadful fury; still the French Admiral [Brueys] sustained the honour of his flag
         with heroic firmness; but at length a period was put to his exertions by a cannon ball, which cut him asunder: he had before
         received three desperate wounds, one on the head, two in his body, but could not be prevailed on to quit his station on the
         arm-chest. His Captain, Casa Bianca, fell by his side. Several of the officers and men seeing the impracticability of extinguishing
         the fire, which had now extended itself along the upper decks, and was flaming up the masts, jumped overboard; some supporting
         themselves on spars and pieces of wreck, others swimming with all their might to escape the dreaded catastrophe. Shot flying
         in all directions dashed many of them to pieces; others were picked up by the boats of the fleet, or dragged into the lower
         ports, of the nearest ships: the British sailors humanely stretched forth their hands to save a fallen enemy, though the battle at that moment raged with uncontrolled fury. The Swiftsure, that was anchored within half-pistol-shot of the larboard bow of l’Orient, saved the lives of the commissary, first lieutenant, and ten men, who were drawn out of the water into the lower deck ports
         during the hottest part of the action. The situation of the Alexander and Swiftsure was perilous in the extreme. The expected explosion of such a ship as l’Orient, was to be dreaded as involving all around in certain destruction … The van of our fleet having finished for the present
         their part in the glorious struggle, had now a fine view of the two lines illumined by the flames of the ill-fated foe; the
         colours of the contending powers being plainly distinguished. The moon, which had risen, opposing her cold light to the warm
         glow of the fire beneath, added to the grand and solemn picture. The flames had by this time made such progress that an explosion
         was instantly expected, yet the enemy on the lower deck, either insensible of the danger that surrounded them, or impelled
         by the last paroxysms of despair and vengeance, continued to fire upon us.43

      
      The Orient then blew up, as Willyams graphically described:
      

      
      At thirty-seven minutes past nine the fatal explosion happened. The fire communicated to the magazine, and l’Orient blew up with a crashing sound that deafened all around her. The tremulous motion, felt to the very bottom of each ship, was
         like that of an earthquake; the fragments were driven such a vast height into the air that some moments elapsed before they
         could descend, and then the greatest apprehension was formed from the volumes of burning matter which threatened to fall on
         the decks and rigging of the surrounding ships. Fortunately, however, no material damage occurred … An awful silence reigned
         for several minutes, as if the contending squadrons, struck with horror at the dreadful event, which in an instant had hurled
         so many brave men into the air, had forgotten their hostile rage in pity for the sufferers.44

      
      The silence did not last. ‘But short was the pause of death;’ Willyams reflected, ‘vengeance soon roused the drooping spirits
         of the enemy.’45 After the explosion, the ships at the head of the French line were by now out of the battle, and so the British ships did
         running repairs and then moved down the line to take on fresh opponents. Here the fighting continued until about three in
         the morning, when there was another lull because both sides needed to pause to patch up their badly damaged ships. When the Goliath ceased firing, John Nicol ‘went on deck to view the state of the fleets, and an awful sight it was. The whole bay was covered
         with dead bodies, mangled, wounded, and scorched, not a bit of clothes on them except their trowsers. There were a number
         of French, belonging to the French admiral’s ship, the L’Orient, who had swam to the Goliath and were cowering under her forecastle. Poor fellows, they were brought on board, and Captain Foley ordered them down to
         the steward’s room, to get provisions and clothing.’46 An experienced seaman who had fought in the American War of Independence, Nicol was struck by the dejection of the prisoners:
         ‘In the American war, when we took a French ship … the prisoners were as merry as if they had taken us, only saying, “Fortune
         de guerre” – you take me today, I take you tomorrow. Those we now had on board were thankful for our kindness, but were sullen,
         and as downcast as if each had lost a ship of his own.’47

      
      The battle dragged on fitfully throughout the next day. Although it was obvious who were the victors, the French refused to
         surrender, and each ship had to be beaten into submission. Rear-Admiral Villeneuve in the Guillaume Tell, though, decided to escape with the remaining intact French ships, and took his ship out of the line, followed by the battleship
         Généreux and the two frigates Diane and Justice. Because the rigging and masts of the British ships were so badly mauled, there was no chance of catching these relatively
         undamaged French ships. After firing a few broadsides, they returned their attention instead to the remaining ships that had
         not surrendered. Willyams described how the last two French ships finally gave up:
      

      
      In the morning of the 3rd of August there remained in the Bay only the Timoleon and Tonnant of the French line that were not captured or destroyed. The former being aground near the coast, the Captain (Trullet) with
         his crew escaped in their boats after setting fire to her, and in a short time she blew up. A flag of truce had been sent
         to the Tonnant, but she refused to submit; on which the Theseus and Leander going down to her, and the Swiftsure following, she struck without further resistance. This completed the conquest of the French fleet in the Bay of Aboukir.48

      
      On the British side the initial estimate of casualties was 218 killed and 677 wounded, although men continued to die from
         their wounds. The number of women killed and wounded was not recorded. The French casualties were far worse, with an estimate
         of 5235 killed or missing and 3305 taken prisoner, of whom around a thousand were wounded. The Orient had a nominal crew of about one thousand men, but they were not all on board during the battle. Of those that were, the majority
         lost their lives – the exact casualty figures are unknown. Unable to feed and care for so many prisoners, Nelson returned
         all but about two hundred to the shore in the days following the battle.
      

      
      At this time, Napoleon was pursuing a force of Mamelukes on the edge of the Sinai Desert, and news of the defeat did not reach
         him until 13 August. His private secretary, Bourrienne, recorded that ‘on learning of the terrible catastrophe of Aboukir,
         the general-in-chief was overwhelmed … At a glance, he clearly measured its fatal consequences … He quickly recovered his
         presence of mind that controlled events; that moral courage, that strength of character, that loftiness of thought, which
         had wavered for a moment beneath the overwhelming weight of this news. He only repeated, in a tone difficult to describe,
         “Unfortunate Brueys, what have you Done! ”’49 Napoleon and his army were now trapped in Egypt.
      

      
      The victory at Aboukir Bay was the greatest that had been achieved in the war against France and the first major setback for
         Napoleon, up to then claimed as invincible in French propaganda. The battle was to mark Nelson’s life as deeply as it marked
         Napoleon’s, for he became a British national hero. He was heralded as ‘Lord Nelson’ in The Times even before King George III decided to make him a peer. Rather than the Battle of Aboukir Bay, it became known in Britain
         as the Battle of the Nile, and Nelson became Baron Nelson of the Nile, with an annual pension of £2000. Other gifts and honours
         were showered on him, ranging from the sublime to the downright unbelievable. The East India Company considered that the immediate
         threat from Napoleon to its territories in India had been removed and voted Nelson a gift of £10,000, while the Ottoman Sultan
         Selim III awarded him the Chelengk (Plume of Triumph) – a gaudy, diamond-encrusted ornament, which Nelson sometimes wore on
         his hat. Probably the strangest gift came from Captain Hallowell of the Swiftsure, who presented Nelson with a coffin. The accompanying letter read: ‘My Lord, Herewith I send you a coffin made of part of
         L’Orient’s main mast, that when you are tired of this life you may be buried in one of your own trophies – but may that period be
         far distant, is the sincere wish of your obedient and much obliged servant, Ben Hallowell.’50 For Nelson, Napoleon and many other key players, the Battle of the Nile was the start of a new phase of the war, but for
         John Nicol, below decks in the Goliath, it was ‘the glorious first of August, the busiest night in my life’.51

   
      
      THREE

      
            [image: image]

      SIEGE OF ACRE

      
      
         Ten days before the departure of Bonaparte, who was heading towards Egypt and Syria, a prisoner escaped from the Temple who
            was to contribute so greatly to his reverses. An escape so simple in itself much later was to cause the failure of the most
            gigantic plans and bold ideas.
         

         Bourrienne, on the consequences of Sir Sidney Smith’s escape from prison on 24 April 17981
         

      

      
      After the Battle of the Nile Nelson sent seven British ships and six French prizes to Gibraltar for repairs, and in the days
         that followed, the rest of the British ships were made seaworthy and the remaining captured French ships were either repaired
         or destroyed. At Aboukir, Midshipman Elliot was involved in the attempt to salvage anything useful from the submerged French
         frigate Sérieuse to refit his own ship, the Goliath:
      

      
      The ship was laying on her side, the upper part of the lower deck hatches under water. Our greatest want was cannons, and I dived … in hopes of finding some, expecting to have air enough towards the upper side
         where it was above water; in this I was right, and I also found much more light than I expected … The first thing I met was
         a dead French marine, swelled up and floating like a cork; he was by no means a pleasant companion where fresh air was scarce, and it was with no little difficulty that I forced him under the beams into the open hatchway.
         Captain Hardy had come on board to see what was to be had, like myself, and just as he looked down the hatchway up bobbed
         the marine … I got most useful supplies from this ship, which greatly assisted our refit. Hardy mentioned this … to Nelson who said no wonder I smelt out a Frenchman in the dark. Poor
         Nelson had such a horror of all Frenchmen, that I believe he thought them at all times nearly as corrupt in body as in mind.2

      
      At long last, five British frigates found their way to Egypt. Leaving two battleships and three frigates to blockade Alexandria,
         Nelson took the remaining ships to Naples. News of the battle had already been brought there by the Mutine, and so boats were ready to welcome Nelson’s ships. An Englishwoman staying at Naples, Cornelia Knight, ‘was with Sir William
         and Lady Hamilton in their barge, which also was followed by another with a band of musicians on board. The shore was lined
         with spectators, who rent the air with joyous acclamations, while the bands played “God save the King” and “Rule Britannia.”.’3 Following the barge of the Hamiltons was the King of Naples, Ferdinand IV, but he ‘did not go on board either of the ships,
         but from his barge saluted the officers on deck. His Majesty had expressed his desire to be incognito, so as not to give the
         trouble of paying him the usual honours.’4

      
      The British seamen, and especially Nelson, were given a rapturous welcome, and afterwards Nelson wrote home to his wife: ‘Sir
         William and Lady Hamilton came out to sea, attended by numerous boats, with emblems, &c. They, my most respectable friends,
         had nearly been laid up seriously ill; first from anxiety, then from joy … Alongside came my honoured friends; the scene in
         the boat was terribly affecting; up flew her ladyship, and exclaiming, “Oh, God! is it possible?” she fell into my arm* more dead than alive. Tears, however, soon set matters to rights, when alongside came the king.’5

      
      From a modern perspective, Lady Hamilton’s reactions to the news and meeting Nelson seem hysterical and perhaps insincere,
         but congratulations similar in tone came from various ladies, including Countess Spencer in London:
      

      
      Joy, joy, joy to you, brave, gallant, immortalized Nelson! May that great God, whose cause you so valiantly support, protect
         and bless you to the end of your brilliant career! Such a race surely never was run. My heart is absolutely bursting with
         different sensations of joy, of gratitude, of pride, of every emotion that ever warmed the bosom of a British woman, on hearing of her Country’s glory – and all produced by you … All,
         all I can say must fall short of my wishes, of my sentiments about you. This moment the guns are firing, illuminations are preparing,
         your gallant name is echoed from street to street, and every Briton feels his obligations to you weighing him down.6

      
      Nelson, the national hero, now found his fame was rapidly spreading across Europe – not for the strategic significance of
         the battle, which was important enough, but for the propaganda value. The French had enjoyed a long string of victories on
         land, and the rising young star, Napoleon, had been hailed as invincible. At sea, the defeat of a French fleet off Cape St
         Vincent in February 1797, and the defeat of the Dutch, allies of the French, at the Battle of Camperdown in October the same
         year, had been the only real causes for rejoicing. It did not matter that Napoleon was not on board ship at the time of the
         battle: his fleet had been decisively defeated, and Nelson was the commander who had led the attack.
      

      
      When news of Nelson’s victory reached London in October, the immediate reaction of the Foreign Office was to order Captain
         Sir Sidney Smith to Constantinople (now Istanbul). Both Nelson and Smith were lethal weapons that could be brilliantly effective
         against the enemy, but were not always controllable. Yet of all the differences between these two naval officers, one stood
         out: Nelson was very much a warlord, always anxious to go straight for the enemy and defeat them in open battle, whereas Smith
         was more subtle – a political animal deeply involved with the British Secret Service. Nelson was a fighter with limited diplomatic
         skills, Smith was a diplomat and spy who could fight.
      

      
      Although Napoleon’s fleet had been comprehensively defeated, and he himself was stranded in Egypt, a threat still existed
         to British interests in the eastern Mediterranean and even India, which the French could attack overland, beyond Nelson’s
         reach. A British military expedition would take time and a great deal of finance to assemble, and if Napoleon moved quickly,
         as he often did, he could be in India long before the British Army caught up. The answer was to send Sir Sidney Smith to Constantinople,
         where his younger brother, John Spencer Smith, was the minister-plenipotentiary. When the latter was first appointed to the
         British Embassy there in 1792, his brother Sidney joined him and was involved in intelligence work. It was France declaring
         war on Britain early the following year that led to Sidney Smith rescuing and burning the French warships at Toulon that summer. Sir Sidney was now instructed by the Admiralty ‘to put to sea without a moment’s loss
         of time in the ship you command, and proceed with all possible despatch off Cadiz, and putting yourself under the command
         of the Earl of St Vincent, admiral of the Blue and commander-in-chief of his majesty’s ships and vessels in the Mediterranean
         and along the coast of Portugal, follow his lordship’s order for your further proceedings’.7 If St Vincent was not at Cadiz, Smith was to look for him at Gibraltar. The Foreign Office advised the two brothers to sign
         a treaty with the Turks and Russians to form an alliance to defend the Ottoman Empire, and Sir Sidney was given full powers
         with his brother. In a letter to Spencer Smith, his role was set out:
      

      
      Your Brother Sir Sidney Smith shall proceed to Constantinople with the 80 Gun Ship the Tigre, to the Command of which he has lately been appointed. His Instructions will empower him to take the Command of such of His
         Majesty’s Ships as He may find in those Seas, unless … it should happen that there should be among them any of His Majesty’s
         officers of superior Rank, and he will be directed to act with such force in conjunction with the Russian and Ottoman squadrons
         for the defence of the Ottoman Empire, and for the Annoyance of the Enemy in that quarter.8

      
      Such a dual mission was unusual, and the Admiralty knew that to invest a mere captain with such powers was likely to cause
         trouble when there were many senior officers available. Indeed, Nelson was to object most strongly. Sir Sidney met up with
         St Vincent at Gibraltar in December, and St Vincent subsequently responded to the First Lord of the Admiralty:
      

      
      I certainly did conceive it to have been your lordship’s intention, that Sir Sidney Smith should act independent of any other
         officer in the Mediterranean, except myself, and that he was only put under my orders pro forma; and I clearly understood from his conversation, that the great object of joining him in the commission with his brother,
         Mr. Spencer Smith, was to give him place [power] over the Turkish and Russian sea-officers serving in the Levant; and he expected,
         under the rank and precedence arising out of this commission, to command the combined fleets; and I so stated it to Lord Nelson,
         as the best apology I could make for permitting a captain of Sir Sidney’s standing to pass through his lordship’s district,
         without putting himself under his [Nelson’s] command.9

      
      While St Vincent knew that Smith was to be given a free hand and had only been put under his command for the sake of appearances,
         he did not like it any more than he liked Smith himself.
      

      
      By the time Smith found St Vincent at Gibraltar, Nelson had been at Naples for some weeks, where he remained for the next
         few months, but it was not the quiet period of recuperation that he might have wanted. Ferdinand I, King of the Two Sicilies*, was not an intelligent man, and the real power was wielded by Queen Maria Carolina, sister of the guillotined Marie Antoinette.
         The King and Queen were inspired by Nelson’s success to make a pre-emptive strike against the French, who were working their
         way south through Italy, and Ferdinand led his army in person, recapturing Rome with little difficulty. He was not prepared
         for the counterattack, however, and the battle turned into a rout, with the French hard on the heels of the Neapolitans. When
         the French reached Naples, the liberal Neapolitans, tired of misrule by a hereditary monarchy, rose in revolt and proclaimed
         a republic. In December 1798 the king and his family were forced to flee, being ferried to Sicily in Nelson’s flagship through
         an extremely violent storm. Matters were further complicated for Nelson because he had fallen in love with Emma Hamilton,
         and at Palermo in Sicily they embarked on an affair.
      

      
      Emma was originally the mistress of Sir William Hamilton’s nephew, who had passed her on to Sir William, against her will,
         over a decade ago. By then Hamilton had been a widower for some years, after a happy marriage, and was at first uncomfortable
         with what his scheming nephew had done, but he realised that Emma was not just beautiful, but intelligent and gifted too.
         Hamilton set about educating her, noting her flair for languages, singing and drama, and eventually a strong bond formed between
         them, and they married. In the permissive, hedonistic atmosphere of the Royal Court at Naples, Emma was accepted as a British
         ambassador’s wife and developed a deep relationship with the Queen that greatly benefited British diplomacy. Nelson believed
         she had intervened with the Queen to allow his fleet to replenish supplies at Syracuse before the Battle of the Nile, without
         which he would have been forced to sail even further afield and perhaps have missed the French altogether. For this he remained
         grateful to Emma until literally his dying day, when he mentioned it in a codicil to his will.
      

      
      The relationship that developed between them was not a youthful infatuation, for Nelson was forty-three, blind in his right
         eye, missing his right arm and prey to other ailments, including malaria, while Emma was thirty-three, putting on weight and
         no longer possessing the fresh-faced beauty of her early portraits. There is no evidence that Emma was previously unfaithful
         to Sir William, and her involvement with Nelson did not replace her relationship with her husband, but Sir William was sixty-eight
         and his health was beginning to fail. The result was a three-sided relationship that lasted until Sir William’s death – he
         was firm friends with Nelson and bequeathed him his favourite picture of Emma.
      

      
      At this point, enjoying a blossoming love affair, still basking in public adulation and totally immersed in the work that
         he lived for, Nelson’s pride suffered a severe blow with the arrival of Sidney Smith. On 26 December 1798 Smith entered Constantinople,
         just as Nelson reached Palermo in Sicily with the royal refugees from Naples. Smith was every bit as active as Nelson, immediately
         setting in motion his plans to oust the French from Egypt, and by the end of December Nelson learned that Smith had taken
         command of his own ships that were blockading Alexandria. He immediately wrote a furious letter to St Vincent: ‘I do feel, for I am a man, that it is impossible for me to serve in these seas, with the squadron under a junior officer … Never, never was I so astonished
         as your letter made me. The Swedish knight [Smith], writes Sir William Hamilton, says that he shall go to Egypt, and take
         Captain Hood and his squadron under his command. The knight forgets the respect due to his superior officer: he has no orders
         from you to take my ships away from my command … Is it to be borne? Pray grant me your permission to retire.’10
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